

Solapur City Development Corporation Limited



REQUEST FOR PROPOSAL

Revision - Nil

Particulars	Details
Client	Solapur City Development Corporation Limited, Solapur, INDIA
Project Name	Implementation of projects under Smart City Mission in Solapur City
Assignment Name	Installation of E-Toilets with Bio-Digesters at 10 locations in ABD area under Smart City (2 nd Call)
Document Issue Date	20/12/2016
Document Number	2016-17/03
Revision	-

Solapur City Development Corporation Limited, Solapur, Maharashtra, India
Indrabhuvan, Ambedkar Chowk Solapur-413001.

November 2016

CONTENTS

1.	Invit	ation for Proposal	6
2.	PRO	JECT BACKGROUND	7
	2.1	Introduction	7
	2.2	Context of the Project	7
	2.3	About E-Toilet	7
	2.4	Functional Description	8
	2.5	Location of E-Toilets	9
	2.6	Scope of Work	g
	2.7	Terms and conditions	10
	2.8	Concession Period	11
	2.9	Assignability and Encumbrances	11
3.	EVA	LUATION OF BIDS	12
	3.1	Opening and Evaluation of Bids	12
	3.2	Tests of responsiveness	12
	3.3	Selection of Bidder	13
	3.4	Bidder	13
	3.5	Proposal Submitted by a Consortium	13
	3.6	Fee and Deposits to be paid by the Bidder	16
	3.7	One Bid per Bidder	17
	3.8	Proposal Preparation and Cost	17
	3.9	Due Diligence, Inspection and Investigation	17
	3.10	Validity of Proposal	17
	3.11	Right to Reject Proposals	18
	3.12	Disputes	18
4.	TEN	DERING PROCEDURE AND SCHEDULE	19
	4.1	Eligibility of the Bidders	19
	12	Dra Pid Conforance	10

Solapur City Development Corporation Limited

	4.3	Amendment of RFP	.20
	4.4	Preparation and Submission of Proposal	.20
	4.5	Language and Currency	.21
	4.6	Bidder's Responsibility	.21
	4.7	Sealing and Marking of Proposals	.22
	4.8	Modification and Withdrawal of Proposals	. 2 3
	4.9	Opening of Bids	. 2 3
	4.10	Evaluation of Proposals	.24
	4.11	Confidentiality	.25
	4.12	Acknowledgement of the Proposal	.25
	4.13	Execution of Concession Agreement	.25
	4.14	Bids of other Bidders	.26
5.	Prop	oosal Data Sheet	.27
6.	PRES	SCRIBED FORMATS	.28

DISCLAIMER

The information contained in this Request for Proposal document comprising of Volume I, Volume II and Volume III (the "RFP" or "Request for Proposal") or subsequently provided to Bidder(s), whether verbally or in documentary or any other form by or on behalf of Authority or any of their employees or advisors, is provided to Bidder(s) on the terms and conditions set out in this RFP and such other terms and conditions subject to which such information is provided.

This RFP is not an agreement and is neither an offer nor invitation by Authority to the prospective Bidders or any other person. The purpose of this RFP is to provide the Bidders with information that may be useful to them in preparing and submitting their proposal pursuant to the Bidding Documents including this RFP (the "Bid"). This RFP includes statements, which reflect various assumptions and assessments arrived at by Authority in relation to the Project. Such assumptions, assessments and statements do not purport to contain all the information that each Bidder may require. This RFP may not be appropriate for all persons, and it is not possible for Authority, its employees and advisors to consider the investment objectives, financial situation and particular needs of each party who reads or uses this RFP. The assumptions, assessments, statements and information contained in the Bidding Documents may not be complete, accurate, adequate or correct. Each Bidder should, therefore, conduct its own investigations and analysis and should check the accuracy, adequacy, correctness, reliability and completeness of the assumptions, assessments, statements and information contained in this RFP and obtain independent advice from appropriate sources.

Information provided in this RFP to the Bidder(s) is on a wide range of matters, some of which depends upon interpretation of law. The information given is not intended to be an exhaustive account of statutory requirements and should not be regarded as a complete or authoritative statement of law. Authority its employees and advisors accepts no responsibility for the accuracy or otherwise for any interpretation or opinion on law expressed herein.

Authority, its employees and advisors make no representation or warranty and shall have no liability to any person, including any Bidder under any law, statute, rules or regulations or tort, principles of restitution or unjust enrichment or otherwise for any loss, damages, cost or expense which may arise from or be incurred or suffered on account of anything contained in this RFP or otherwise, including the accuracy, adequacy, correctness, completeness or reliability of the RFP and any assessment, assumption, statement or information contained therein or deemed to form part of this RFP or arising in any way by participating in this Bidding Process.

Authority its employees and advisors also accepts no liability of any nature whether resulting from negligence or otherwise howsoever caused arising from reliance of any Bidder upon the statements contained in this RFP.

Solapur City Development Corporation Limited

Authority may in its absolute discretion, but without being under any obligation to do so, update, amend or supplement the information, assessment or assumptions contained in this RFP.

The issue of this RFP does not imply that Authority is bound to select a Bidder or to appoint the Successful Bidder or Concessionaire, as the case may be, for the Project and Authority reserves the right to reject all or any of the Bidders or Bids without assigning any reason whatsoever.

The Bidder shall bear all its costs associated with or relating to the preparation and submission of its Bid including but not limited to preparation, copying, postage, delivery fees, expenses associated with any demonstrations or presentations which may be required by Authority or any other costs incurred in connection with or relating to its Bid. All such costs and expenses will remain with the Bidder and Authority its employees and advisors shall not be liable in any manner whatsoever for the same or for any other costs or other expenses incurred by a Bidder in preparation or submission of the Bid, regardless of the conduct or outcome of the Bidding Process.

1. INVITATION FOR PROPOSAL

Solapur City Development Corporation Limited ("SCDCL" or "Authority") invite proposals for installation, operation and maintenance of E-Toilets with Bio-Digesters at 10 locations in the area selected for Area Based Development under the Smart Cities Mission in Solapur (the "ABD Area")through Public Private Partnership ("PPP") mode on Design, Build, Operate and Transfer ("DBOT") basis (the "Project").

This RFP is for Installation, Planning, Designing, Engineering, Finance, Construction, Operation and Maintenance of E-Toilets with Bio-Digesters ("Project") at 10 places in ABD Area. The Authority will enter into a separate agreement with the Successful Bidder selected in accordance with this RFP. The agreement will be in the format specified by the Authority.

A "Single Stage" bidding process will be followed for selection of a Successful Bidder. Bidders are required to meet the minimum threshold technical and financial capability criteria, as stated in the RFP and Notice Inviting Tenders ("NIT") advertisement published in the National dailies on 26-11-2016 and as provided herein. Pursuant to this, Bidders would be evaluated on the basis of detailed technical and financial proposals and qualify for undertaking the Project as set out in this RFP. This qualification assessment would be carried out as part of the current bidding and evaluation process. The financial proposal of only those Bidders that possess the minimum technical requirements specified herein would be opened and evaluated.

The RFP document contains information about the Project, bidding process, proposal submission, qualification and financial proposal requirement.

The RFP submissions as per the provisions of the RFP document must be received not later than the Proposal Due Date.

Chief Executive Officer

(Solapur City Development Corporation Limited)

2. PROJECT BACKGROUND

2.1 Introduction

2.1.1 Solapur City was selected to be developed as a Smart City among nine other cities from Maharashtra. The Smart City Proposal prepared by the city was selected in the first round of Smart Cities Challenge. Post selection in the first round, the city has formed Solapur City Development Corporation Limited ("SCDCL" or "Authority") for implementation of Smart City projects. Smart City projects comprises of Area Based Development (where in the city has selected an area admeasuring 1040 acres approximately, hereinafter to be referred as the "ABD Area") and an Information Technology based Pan City solution. Under the ABD Area the Authority has envisaged to improve the city's public sanitation amenities. The RFP document for this Project shall be available on the Authority's e-tender website www.mahatenders.gov.in

2.2 Context of the Project

- 2.2.1 The Project will be implemented on a PPP basis, with the private developer being selected through a competitive bidding process. The private developer shall have the obligation the activities mentioned in Clause 2.6.1 in accordance to the Concession Agreement for the period of 5 (five) years (the "Concession Period"). At the end of this period, the Concessionaire will transfer the assets to the Concessioning Authorities.
- 2.2.2 Bidders are requested to note that priority will be given to the entities as mentioned in the Government of Maharashtra resolution dated 10th July 2007. The Government Resolution in this context is provided in FORMAT K of this RFP document.

2.3 About E-Toilet

- 2.3.1 E- Toilet or electronic toilet system shall be a modular, pre-fabricated public toilet made of appropriate material suitable to the local conditions and is integrated with user-friendly electronic interfaces. These are sophisticated unmanned, automated and have remote monitoring capabilities and its health status can be tracked over web. E- Toilets, by integrating electrical, mechanical and web-mobile technologies, incorporate full- cycle approach in sustainable sanitation.
- 2.3.2 The E-Toilets, Authority intends to install in the ABD Area shall confirm to the following parameters as approved by the Authority;
 - a) Body to be built up of Cold Rolled Steel (CRS) with powder coating or stainless steel to make it durable to the local climatic conditions of Solapur.
 - b) Coin validator system installed.
 - c) Pre Flush, Auto flush, automatic platform cleaning mechanism to clean the toilet before and after usage.

- d) LED indications to notify the user about the status of the system.
- e) Voice Guidance (in Marathi language) to help the user to operate the toilet without manual assistance.
- f) Display boards where instructions in Marathi and English shall be written for the aid of the user. Such display boards shall be distinctly visible during night hours.
- g) In built water tank with LED Indication when the water tank is empty.
- h) Advertisement panels on which public messages, corporate advertisements can be displayed to generate revenue.
- i) GPRS Connectivity which will help in the monitoring the health status of the unit.
- j) Special arrangements for the differently abled.
- k) Shall have a waste disposal unit for disposal of waste including sanitary pads and such units shall be easily detachable for easy cleaning regularly.

2.4 Functional Description

- 2.4.1 The unit may have an Indian style closet or a western style WC, health faucet, lights, status display and instruction boards, etc. as the case may be. Water tank of 300 liter capacity shall be erected on top of the toilet unit. The tank shall be connected to the three flushes (pre-flush/platform washing/ after use flush) in the unit.
- There should be display light outside the toilet unit, which shows whether the unit is "Occupied" indicating with Red light or "Unoccupied" indicating with Green light. The user should be able to enter and close the door manually, similar to a conventional toilet.
- 2.4.3 Upon entering the toilet, indoor lights should be switched on automatically. Preflush system will wet the closet initially. Toilet flush can be activated using a manual flush cock provided inside the toilet. Even if the user forgets to flush after usage, the system should automatically flush after the exit. Exit from the unit is completely manual. An automatic floor cleaning mechanism should also be provided through which, the floor will be cleaned automatically. The floor cleaning should be activated either through a push switch or it may be programmed to function after a specified usage.
- 2.4.4 Connected E-Toilet Infrastructure: E-Toilets should be connected over a GPRS network, which ensure real-time monitoring of the usage and health status of the e-Toilets. The health status may be viewed and managed over a web interface for

- ensuring minimal downtime and standardized maintenance operations. A Service Engineer must attend to technical trouble shooting of the E-Toilets within 24 hours.
- 2.4.5 The E-Toilet, though must integrate several electronic technologies for its smooth operations, should not provide any complex electronic interface for the user. The electronic systems are should be utilized for effective management of the E-Toilets.
- 2.4.6 The E-Toilet must be connected to a bio-digester of appropriate capacity for 200 users. Outdoor advertising space on E-Toilet panels must be provided.

2.5 Location of E-Toilets

2.5.1 Bidders shall note that Successful Bidder shall identify the locations where the Project is to be implemented and submit to the Authority for approval.

2.6 Scope of Work

- 2.6.1 It is proposed to install E-Toilets with Bio-Digesters at the above mentioned sites. The "Scope of Work" is given below while complying with applicable laws including but not limited to the local by-laws:
 - Undertaking survey of locations for installation of E-Toilets in the ABD Area and approval from the Solapur Municipal Corporation for the identified locations.
 - Installation of E-Toilet with Bio-Digester at the designated sites identified by SCDCL.
 - Operation and maintenance of E-Toilet with Bio-Digester and advertisement panels that may be installed on the super-structure of the toilet blocks for the Concession Period.
 - Certification of structural safety of the installation and barring force majeure, accidents, vandalism the bidder shall make good any structural faults in the installation, if any at the earliest.
 - Effluent from each bio-digester should be connected to nearest sewerage system.
 - The installation to be completed within one (1) Month from the date of signing of contract as directed by SCDCL.
 - The Authority shall not be responsible for untoward incidence, if occurred due
 to structural fault. The bidder would be responsible for any civil/criminal
 proceedings arising out of such incidence and for damage caused to life and
 property thereof.
 - Carrying out the installation in a safe and responsible manner without any inconvenience or danger to the public.
 - Co-ordination and getting the approval from the appropriate authority like District Administration, Police, PWD, etc.
 - The successful bidder shall be allowed to collect advertisement revenue and user charges from the E-Toilet block.

2.7 Terms and conditions

- 2.7.1 The Successful Bidder shall take certification for structural safety of installation from a reputed technical institution as prescribed by the Authority. The same institution would perform quality check and certify the Project post completion.
- 2.7.2 At the end of the Concession Period the Project shall be transferred back to the Authority, in accordance with the provision of the Concession Agreement that will be executed in the format prescribed by the Authority.
- 2.7.3 The Bidder should note that there will be no transfer in title to the land on which the Project is being developed. The land comprising the Site of Project shall continue to vest with the Authority or the relevant Government Agency, as the case may be.
- 2.7.4 The Bidders must note that they would be required to follow the applicable law for installation, construction and development of the Project, including local building bylaw requirements and other statutory rules/ regulations and other prevalent applicable regulations.
- 2.7.5 Bidders are required to carry out their own due diligence for the potential revenue generated from the Project. The Authority shall not take any kind of responsibility whatsoever for the revenue generated from the aforesaid sources.
- 2.7.6 The Authority proposes to select a Successful Bidder for taking up the Project in DBOT mode in accordance with the provisions of the Concession Agreement, which shall have a predetermined Concession Period starting from the date conditions precedent specified in the Concession Agreement are satisfied (such date being hereinafter referred to as the "Compliance Date").
- 2.7.7 The proposed sites for project development shall be licensed to the Concessionaire for the purpose of development of the Project. The Concessionaire shall develop the Project and thereafter, operate and maintain it throughout the Concession Period. The act of granting permission to develop the Project at the Site and to sub license the use of the Project Facility or any part thereof shall not vest or create any proprietary interest in the Site or the infrastructure comprising the Project, or any part thereof including any permanent fixtures, fittings, etc. installed at the location of the Site in favor of the Concessionaire or any sublicensed(s).
- 2.7.8 The Concessionaire shall be entitled to sub license the built up space in accordance with the provisions of the Concession Agreement, and any guidelines or procedures prescribed by the Authority in this regard from time to time.
- 2.7.9 End of the Concession: At the end of the Concession Period, by efflux of time or premature termination for any reason whatsoever, all rights given under the Concession Agreement shall cease to have effect and the possession of the Site and the all the assets of the Project including all infrastructure and facilities developed in relation thereto shall transfer back to the Authority at no cost to the Authority. All the immovable assets attached to the Project/Project Site shall revert to the Authority without any obligation on the Authority to pay or adjust any consideration or other payment to the Concessionaire.
- 2.7.10 If during the Concession Period any loss of property and/or life takes place, the loss and account of the same shall be borne entirely by the Concessionaire and the

Authority shall not be liable for any such claims. The Concessionaire shall be responsible for the payments arising out of any third party claims. The Concessionaire is advised to procure insurance for meeting such liabilities at his own cost.

2.8 Concession Period

In general, concession period is the span of time granted by the government to the private sector within which the private sector is responsible for the financing, construction and operation of a project. The Concession Period for this Project shall be as defined in Clause 2.2.1.

2.9 Assignability and Encumbrances

- 2.9.1 Except for leasing / sub-leasing/ the use of the built space and facility as per the terms of the Concession Agreement, the Concessionaire shall be entitled to assign any of his rights, or interests in this Agreement in favor of lenders/ financial institutions at any time, for raising finance for the Project.
- 2.9.2 However under no circumstances, the land or building or facilities constructed or installed at the Project or Site shall be mortgaged, charged or otherwise any lien (including negative lien), charge or encumbrance be created or agreed to be created in favour of any person, including lenders / financial Institution(s) / banks.

3. EVALUATION OF BIDS

3.1 Opening and Evaluation of Bids

- 3.1.1 Authority will examine and evaluate the Bids in accordance with the provisions set out in this Article 3.
- 3.1.2 To facilitate evaluation of Bids, Authority may, at its sole discretion, seek clarifications in writing from any Bidder regarding its Bid and such Bidder shall provide its response within the time period specified by Authority in this regard.

3.2 Tests of responsiveness

- 3.2.1 Prior to evaluation of Bids, Authority shall determine whether each Bid is responsive to the requirements of this RFP. A Bid shall be considered responsive only if:
 - a) In the event, the Bidder has downloaded the RFP document from the website as mentioned in Clause 2.1.1, the amount of the Tender Fee and Earnest Money Deposit as mentioned in Proposal Data Sheet in Article 5 has been enclosed.
 - b) it is received as per the formats at FORMAT A to FORMAT J
 - c) it is received by the Bid Due Date including any extension thereof pursuant to Article 5;
 - d) it is signed, sealed, bound together in hard cover and marked as stipulated in Clauses 2.11 and 2.12;
 - e) it is accompanied by the Bid Security as specified in Article 5;
 - f) it is accompanied by the Power(s) of Attorney as specified in Clauses 4.4.6and 4.4.7, as the case may be;
 - g) it contains certificates from its statutory auditors in the formats specified at FORMAT H and FORMAT I of the RFP;
 - h) it contains all the information (complete in all respects) as requested in this RFP and/or Bidding Documents (and if formats have been specified, then in those formats);
 - i) It contains certified true copy of the incorporation certificate of the Bidding Company. In the case of a Consortium, certified true copy of the incorporation certificate of each of the Members of the Consortium
 - j) it does not contain any condition or qualification; and
 - k) It is not non-responsive or inconsistent in terms of the Bidding Documents.

3.2.2 Authority reserves the right to reject any Bid which is non-responsive and no request for alteration, modification, substitution or withdrawal shall be entertained by Authority in respect of such Bid.

3.3 Selection of Bidder

- 3.3.1 Subject to the provisions of Clause 2.17.1, the Bidder whose Bid is adjudged as responsive in terms of Clause 12, has qualified under evaluation of Envelope 1 in terms of Clause 13, has quoted the lowest Quarterly Fee, shall be declared as the successful Bidder (the "Successful Bidder"). In the event that Authority rejects or annuls all the Bids, it may, in its discretion, invite fresh Bids.
- 3.3.2 The evaluation of the bids will be completed in 2 stages.
 - Stage 1 Opening of Technical Bids
 - Stage 2 Opening of Financial Bids of technically qualified Bidders
- 3.3.3 The entire bidding process has been explained elaborately in Article 4 of this RFP Document.

3.4 Bidder

The Authority intends to qualify and select suitable Bidders (the "Bidder", which expression shall, unless repugnant to the context, include the Members of the Consortium) through an open competitive bidding process in accordance with the procedure set out in this RFP wherein a Bidder may be Bidding Company or a Consortium. Bidding Company means a single entity, a limited liability company under the Companies Act 1956/2013, which submits the Bid as a single entity pursuant to the RFP. Consortium means a consortium of entities being limited liability Companies under the Companies Act 1956/2013 with the lead Member being an entity, which has been issued the RFP and which submits the Bid as a Consortium ("Consortium") pursuant to the Bidding Documents. ("Proposal"/"Bid")

3.5 Proposal Submitted by a Consortium

- 3.5.1 The maximum number of allowed members in a consortium are three (3). Each consortium must specify the proposed equity share holding and nominate a member as the "Lead Member" of the Consortium. This shall be enshrined in the Joint Bidding Agreement ("JBA") signed by all consortium members and submitted along with bid/proposal, in the format provided in Format J appended to this RFP.
- Any changes in the membership of a Bidder will be rejected by the Authority.

 Proposals submitted by a consortium must provide a JBA to be signed by each member in that consortium and also, on their respective company letter-head duly

- signed by the authorized signatory of the company which describes the responsibilities and equity commitments of that member in the consortium
- 3.5.3 In the event the Project is awarded to a Consortium/ Joint Venture, shall form a Special Purpose Company ("SPC") registered under Companies Act, 2013 in India for the implementation of the Project. The SPC shall be formed after issuance and acceptance of Notice of Award within thirty (30) days preceding signing of the Concession Agreement. The SPC would enter into the Concession Agreement and subsequently carry out all the responsibilities of the Concessionaire and undertake the Project as stipulated in the Agreement. The proposed shareholding of the members of the consortium in the SPC must be in compliance with the criteria specified in the RFP. However, the membership structure of the Bidder shall not be changed by the Bidder without the Authority's prior written approval.
- 3.5.4 Minimum Equity requirements a)The aggregate shareholding of the consortium members (in case of a Consortium) or Successful Bidder (in case of individual Bidder) in the issued and paid up equity share capital of the Concessionaire shall be not less than:
 - Fifty one percent (51%) till a period of issuance of Construction Completion Certificate by the Authority; and
 - Twenty six percent (26%) during the balance Operation and Maintenance Period, till the Project Transfer Date/ issuance of Concession Agreement Completion Certificate.
 - a) In addition to the above obligations, the Lead Member of the Consortium shall at all times maintain a minimum equity component of twenty six percent (26%) in the stipulated issued and paid up equity share capital of Concessionaire.
 - b) At no stage shall any change in the equity components/ shareholding patterns shall be made by the Consortium members or by any of the Successful Bidder without obtaining prior approval from the Authority. On an application made for the purpose, the Authority may permit the change of shareholding patterns, provided the Authority is satisfied that the proposed changes shall be in the interest of the implementation of the Project in future and would not be detrimental to any of the rights or interests of the Authority and any of the confirming authorities. However, no such change in the shareholding pattern shall be permitted by the Authority, which would make the consortium members or associates or the Concessionaire non-compliant with the conditions stipulated in the RFP.
- 3.5.5 It is clarified that a Successful Bidder which is not a Consortium, may also incorporate an SPC for implementation of the Project but does not have the obligation to do so. Provided however, in case of a single Bidder who is a foreign entity, it shall be mandatorily required to incorporate an SPC for implementation of the Project.
- 3.5.6 Members of the Consortium shall be liable jointly and severally for the execution of the Project in accordance with the terms of the Concession Agreement and a

statement to this effect shall be included in the Joint Bidding Agreement. The Authority may require other such documents / undertakings/ indemnities as it may deem fit from the Consortium members before or at the time of issuance of Notice of Award/ signing of the Concession Agreement.

- 3.5.7 The Lead Member nominated at the time of submission of the Proposal shall continue to be the Lead Member of the SPC. The Lead Member shall hold authorization in the form of power of attorney. The Proposal must designate one or more person(s) to represent the Bidder in its dealings with the Authority. Unless specifically advised to the contrary, the Authority shall assume that the person (s) designated is authorized to perform all tasks, including, but not limited to, providing information, responding to inquiries and entering into contractual commitments on behalf of the company or the consortium as the case maybe. Any and all limitations on the authority of the designated person(s) shall be detailed in the Proposal.
- 3.5.8 Bidders who have used the net worth and/ or technical support/ expertise of their parent/ group company to satisfy the minimum eligibility criteria mentioned in the NIT advertisement, shall be required to furnish along with their Proposals, a letter of guarantee, accompanied by a board resolution from their Parent/ Group Companies authorizing the said Bidder to take part in the bidding process and by pledging their financial strength and/ or technical support and expertise towards the development of the Project. Failure to furnish such letter of guarantee accompanied by a board resolution from the parent/ group company shall entail automatic disqualification of their proposals by the Authority.
- 3.5.9 Each member of the Consortium shall submit a signed letter (on the company's letter head) with the Proposal, which states that the said member:
 - Has reviewed the entire Proposal.
 - Is in accord with each key element of the Proposal, including, but not limited to, it's technical and price components, description of the member's responsibilities and commitments to the Project, and the designated person(s) who will represent the Consortium during the negotiation process. Any substantive exception or caveat should be addressed in the enclosed letter.
 - Has participated in only one Proposal for this Project.
 - Each of the Consortium members will be jointly and severally liable to the Authority.
- 3.5.10 All pertinent information that may affect the performance of the responsibilities of any Consortium member such as ongoing litigation, financial distress, or any other

such matter must be disclosed. In the event of non-disclosure of such information, the Proposal will be liable to be rejected by the Authority.

3.6 Fee and Deposits to be paid by the Bidder

3.6.1 Proposal Security / Bid Security

- i. The bid shall be accompanied by a Proposal Security for a value mentioned in the Proposal Data Sheet at the time of submission of Proposal in any one of the following manners:
 - A Bank Guarantee issued by a Scheduled Bank in favour of "Solapur City Development Corporation Limited" and in the format given in Article 6 (FORMAT F) of the RFP document; or
 - Demand Draft in favor of "Solapur City Development Corporation Limited" payable at Solapur
- ii. The Bank Guarantee shall be valid for a minimum period of one hundred and eight (180) days from the Proposal due date. On request from the Authority, the Bidders would be required to extend the validity of the Proposal Security on the same terms and conditions.
- iii. The Proposal Security of the Successful Bidder will be returned on receipt of Performance Security from the Successful Bidder.
- iv. Any Bid submitted without the Proposal Security in the form as specified in the RFP document shall be summarily rejected.
- v. The Proposal Security of Bidders, whose Proposal is rejected on account of being non-responsive in accordance of Clause 4.9.2 of the RFP, will be returned/refunded within a period of sixty (60) days from the date of intimating the rejection of the Proposal by the Authority to the Bidder. The Proposal Security shall be forfeited by the Authority, in the following cases:
 - If the Bidder withdraws his Bid after Technical Proposal opening and during the Bid Validity Period.
 - In case of a Successful Bidder, if the Successful Bidder fails to sign the Concession Agreement within the specified time limit as given out in Clause 4.12.2 of the RFP or any extension thereof,
 - In case of a Successful Bidder, if the Bidder fails within the specified time limit to furnish the required Performance Security or fails to start the work within stipulated period.
 - In case there are conditions proposed with the Technical and/or Financial Proposals.
- 3.6.2 Performance Security and Project Development Fees: The Successful Bidder, for due and faithful performance of its obligations under the Concession Agreement, shall

be required to provide to the Authority within twenty one (21) days of the acknowledgement of Notice of Award, the following:

- "Performance Security" of an amount as stipulated in the Proposal Data Sheet:
- "Project Development Fees" of an amount as stipulated in the Proposal Data Sheet. The Successful Bidder is required to submit irrevocable and nonrefundable Project Development Fees in the form of Demand Draft in favour of Solapur City Development Corporation Limited.
- 3.6.3 Professional Fees: The Successful Bidder shall bear the professional fees charges for getting structural safety certificate and quality certification of final Project.

3.7 One Bid per Bidder

3.7.1 Each Bidder shall submit only one Bid for the Project. Violation of this shall lead to disqualification of the Bidder along with the Consortium it is the part of.

3.8 Proposal Preparation and Cost

3.8.1 All Bidders are required to submit a detailed proposal (herein-after referred to as the "Proposal" or "Bid") in accordance with this RFP. Bidders should provide information sought herein in the prescribed formats in order to accurately establish and interpret the information provided. The cost of preparation of the Proposal and related expenses shall be borne by the Bidders themselves.

3.9 Due Diligence, Inspection and Investigation

3.9.1 The Bidders shall be deemed to have conducted a due diligence exercise with respect to all aspects of the Project, including a detailed survey of the sites and information/ data provided by the Authority in the RFP Document, when they submit the Proposal. Interested Bidders are invited to visit and inspect the Sites at their own expense. Failure to investigate fully the Site or subsurface conditions shall not be a valid ground to relieve the Bidder subsequently after its Proposal nor shall it relieve the Bidder from any responsibility for estimating the difficulty or costs of successfully completing the Project.

3.10 Validity of Proposal

3.10.1 The Proposal shall remain valid for a period not less than one hundred eighty (180) days from the due date of submission ("Offer Validity Period"). The Authority reserves the right to reject any Proposal that does not meet this requirement.

- Validity of Proposal shall be extended for a specified additional period at the request of the Authority.
- 3.10.2 A Bidder agreeing to the request will not be allowed to modify his Proposal, but would be required to extend the validity of his Proposal Security for the period of extension.
- 3.10.3 The Proposal Validity Period of the Successful Bidder shall be extended till the date of execution of the Concession Agreement.

3.11 Right to Reject Proposals

- 3.11.1 The Authority reserves the right to reject any / all proposals including the highest proposal or withdraw the invitation of the proposal at any stage without citing any reason. Nothing contained herein shall confer any right upon a Bidder or create any obligation/ liability upon the Authority of any type whatsoever.
- 3.11.2 Misrepresentation / Fraud / Breach of Terms and Conditions

 If it is discovered at any point of time that the Bidder has suppressed any fact or given a false statement or has done misrepresentation or fraud or has violated any of the terms of the RFP, the bid shall be cancelled by the Authority. In such an event, the Bidder will not be entitled to any compensation whatsoever, or refund of any other amount paid by him.

3.12 Disputes

3.12.1 All disputes between the Successful Bidder and the Authority shall be settled as per the dispute resolution procedure elaborated in the Concession Agreement. During the bidding process no dispute of any type would be entertained. Even in such cases where the Authority asks for additional information from any Bidder, the same cannot be adduced as a reason for citing any dispute.

4. TENDERING PROCEDURE AND SCHEDULE

4.1 Eligibility of the Bidders

4.1.1 Interested Bidder meeting any one of the following eligibility criteria may submit their proposal for individual projects:

S.No.	Description	Minimum Requirements	
1	Technical Criteria	Experience of having successfully completed similar works during last 7 years ending last day of month previous to the one in which applications are invited should be either of the following: -	
		 Three similar completed works for installation of at least 10 E-Toilets in Urban areas and that are in operations. Two similar completed works for installation of at least 30 E-Toilets in Urban areas and that are in operations. One similar completed works for installation of at least 40 E-Toilets in Urban areas and that are in operations. 	
2	Financial Criteria	Average Annual financial turnover during the last 3 financial years, ending 31st March of the previous financial year, should be at least INR 10 Crores.	

It is hereby made clear that in case of Consortium, the net worth of only those members would be taken into consideration that hold a minimum of 20% equity participation in the consortium in the same proportion that is mentioned in their Joint Bidding Agreement.

The technical experience of the Bidder shall be duly certified by the relevant authorities.

The net worth in Indian Rupee (INR) shall be duly certified by a statutory auditor.

4.1.2 Bidders fulfilling the eligibility criteria set out above will be the eligible Bidders provided the Bidder is not under a declaration of ineligibility for corrupt or fraudulent practices, and the Bid is not non-responsive in terms of this RFP.

4.2 Pre-Bid Conference

- 4.2.1 Bidders may send their queries to the Authority by the date as stipulated in the Proposal Data Sheet in writing. All the Bidders will be sent the clarifications to queries received till the stipulated date. The queries received after the prescribed date will not be entertained by the Authority.
 - i. The purpose of the Pre-Bid Conference will be to clarify and discuss issues with respect to the Project, the RFP or any other related issues.
 - ii. The Bidder or his authorized representative is invited to attend a Pre-Bid Conference, which shall take place at the date and venue as prescribed in the Proposal Data Sheet

iii. It is advisable to attend the Pre-Bid Conference. Subsequent to the date of the Pre-Bid Conference, the Authority shall not respond to questions or inquiries from any Bidder.

4.3 Amendment of RFP

- 4.3.1 At any time prior to the Proposal Due Date, the Authority may, for any reason, whether at its own initiative or in response to clarifications requested by a Bidder, modify the RFP through the issuance of addenda. This will be sent in writing to all the Bidders and shall be binding upon them.
- 4.3.2 In order to give the Bidders reasonable time in which to take an addendum into account, or for any other reason, the Authority may, at its discretion, extend the Proposal Due Date.

4.4 Preparation and Submission of Proposal

- 4.4.1 Completed proposals shall be accepted on or before the Proposal Due Date at the venue mentioned in the Proposal Data Sheet in Article 5.
- 4.4.2 The Authority at its sole discretion retains the right, but is not obliged, to extend the Proposal Due Date by issuing an addendum.
- 4.4.3 Bidders shall furnish the information strictly as per the formats given in Article 5 of of this document without any ambiguity. The Authority shall not be held responsible if the failure of any Bidder to provide the information in the prescribed formats results in lack of clarity in interpretation and consequent disqualification.
- 4.4.4 In case of a Consortium, wherever required, the Proposal must contain such information individually for each member of the Consortium.
- In case of a Consortium, the members shall submit a Joint Bidding Agreement conveying their intent to jointly bid for the project, and in case the project is awarded to them, to form a SPC that will subsequently carry out all its responsibilities as the Concessionaire. The MOA (Memorandum of Association) shall also include the nomination of the Lead Member in the consortium and clearly outline the proposed shareholding and responsibilities of each member at each stage.
- 4.4.6 All proposals/bids/offers shall be signed by the duly 'Authorized Signatory' of the Bidder. In case of a consortium, the proposal shall be duly signed by the Authorized Signatory of the Lead Member. Bidders shall submit a supporting power of attorney authorizing the Authorized Signatory of the Proposal to commit the Bidder and agreeing to ratify all acts, deeds and things lawfully done by the said

- attorney. In case of a consortium, such power of attorney shall be signed by all members of the consortium and shall be legally binding on all of them.
- 4.4.7 The Authorized Signatory shall initial the Proposal on each page. He shall also initial all the alterations, omissions, additions, or any other amendments made to the Proposal.
- 4.4.8 All witnesses and sureties shall be the persons of status and probity and their full names and addresses shall be stated below their signature. All signatures in the Proposal documents shall be dated.
- 4.4.9 Bidders are required to submit only one Proposal.
- 4.4.10 Any entity which submits or participates in more than one Proposal shall be disqualified and shall also cause the disqualification of the consortium in which it is a member.

4.5 Language and Currency

- 4.5.1 The Proposal and all related correspondence and documents shall be written in English language. If any supporting document attached to the bid is in any other language, the same will be supported by an English translation and in case of any ambiguity the translation (original as translated by the Authority) shall prevail.
- 4.5.2 The currency for the purpose of the Proposal shall be Indian National Rupee (INR)

4.6 Bidder's Responsibility

- 4.6.1 It shall be deemed that prior to the submission of Proposal, the Bidder has made a complete and careful examination of:
 - The requirements and other information set forth in this RFP document.
 - The various aspects of the Project including, but not limited to the following:
 - The Site, existing facilities and structures, access roads and public utilities in the vicinity of the Site;
 - All other matters that might affect the Bidder's performance under the terms
 of this RFP, including all legal obligations, clearances, risks, costs, liabilities
 and contingencies associated with the Project.
- 4.6.2 The Bidder shall be responsible for all of the costs associated with the preparation of the Proposal and their participation in the selection process. Authority will not be responsible or in any way liable for such costs, regardless of the conduct or outcome of the selection process.
- 4.6.3 The Bidder shall ensure that the bid is complete in all respects and conforms to all requirements indicated in the RFP document.
- 4.6.4 The Bidder shall obtain for themselves, at their own responsibility, all the information and data that may be necessary for submission of bid. The details provided in this RFP document, is intended to guide the bidders in preparing their

proposal only. GMC shall not stand guarantee for and shall not be held responsible for the veracity of the data related to cost and revenue, which have been made available in this document.

- 4.6.5 All the costs associated while preparation of bid, and undertaking any further studies and investigations shall be at the Bidder's own expense.
- 4.6.6 Site Visit
 - The Bidders prior to submitting their Bid for the Project, are expected to visit and examine the project site and the site surroundings at his/her own expenses, the site being offered on an "as is where is" basis and ascertain, on their own responsibility, information, technical data, traffic data, market study, etc. including actual condition of existing services which may or may not have to be shifted/removed/replaced etc.
 - It shall be assumed that all these factors were accounted for by the Bidder while quoting his Bid. The Bidder shall be deemed to have full knowledge of the site whether he inspects it or not.
- 4.6.7 **Familiarity with Clearances:** The Bidder should be familiar with the clearances required from various authorities to commence work. A Bidder shall be deemed to have carried out preliminary checks with relevant authorities.
- 4.6.8 The Authority shall not be liable for any mistake or error or neglect by the Bidder in respect of the above. Proposals that are not substantively responsive to the requirements of this RFP document will be rejected.

4.7 Sealing and Marking of Proposals

- 4.7.1 The Proposals shall be sealed, marked and submitted as explained below:
 - a) Envelope No.1 containing the Proposal / Bid Security shall be marked as "Proposal Security Deposit".
 - b) Envelope No. 2, duly marked as "TECHNICAL BID" shall contain the following:
 - Letter of Application and Interest (As per FORMAT A)
 - General Information on the Bidder (As per FORMAT B)
 - Affidavit (As per FORMAT D)
 - Power Of Attorney for Signing of Application (as per FORMAT E)
 - Proposal / Bid Security Format (as per FORMAT F)
 - Power of attorney for Lead Member from other Member in case of Consortium (as per FORMAT G)
 - Format to establish the Technical Experience of the Bidder (as per FORMAT H)
 - Format to establish the Financial Experience of the Bidder (as per FORMAT I)
 - Joint Bidding Agreement (as per FORMAT J)

- Original RFP Document duly signed (on each page) by an authorized representative as a token of acceptance.
- All required submissions, if the Bidder is applying through Consortium and as stated in the RFP Document.
- c) Envelope No. 3, duly marked as "FINANCIAL BID" shall be as per FORMAT C.
- d) All the above envelopes shall be enclosed in an outer cover/ envelope marked as "RFP for Installation of E-Toilets with Bio-Digesters on DBOT Basis at 10 locations in Solapur.
- e) The Outer envelope shall be addressed to: "Chief Executive Officer, Solapur City Development Corporation Limited".
- 4.7.2 If the envelope is not sealed and marked, as instructed above, the Authority assumes no responsibility for the misplacement or premature opening of the proposal submitted. In that case, the prematurely opened proposals will be rejected.
- 4.7.3 Any Proposal received by the Authority after 15:00 hours on the Due Date will be liable for rejection. .

4.8 Modification and Withdrawal of Proposals

- 4.8.1 No Proposal shall be modified or withdrawn by the Bidder after the Proposal Due Date.
- 4.8.2 Withdrawal of a Proposal during the interval between Proposal Due Date and expiration of the Proposal Validity Period would result in forfeiture of the Proposal Security.

4.9 Opening of Bids

- 4.9.1 The technical bids received shall be opened by the Committee constituted by the Authority in the presence of the Bidders who chose to be present at the venue and date as mentioned in the Proposal Data Sheet. The date for opening of financial bids shall be intimated in advance to the technically qualified Bidders.
- 4.9.2 In case of the following non-responsiveness of proposal in terms of Clause 3.3.1(v) the Authority reserves the right to reject any Proposal and refund/ return the Proposal Security, if:
 - It is not signed, sealed and marked as stipulated in Article 4.6 of the RFP document.
 - The information and documents have not been submitted as requested and in the formats specified in the RFP.
 - There are inconsistencies between the Proposal and the supporting documents.
 - It does not mention the validity period as set out in Article 3.7 of the RFP document.

- It provides the information with material deviations.
- 4.9.3 A material deviation or reservation is one:
 - Which affects in any substantial way, the scope, quality, or performance of the Project, or which limits in any substantial way, inconsistent with the RFP document, the Authority's rights or the Bidder's obligations, or
 - Which would affect unfairly the competitive position of other Bidders' presenting substantially responsive bids.
- 4.9.4 No request for modification or withdrawal shall be entertained by the Authority in respect of such Proposals.

4.10 Evaluation of Proposals

- 4.10.1 The evaluation will be done in two (2) stages as explained below:
- 4.10.2 **In Stage I**, the Proposal / bid Security in Envelope 1 shall be first checked. Proposals without the appropriate Proposal Security will be rejected. The submission(s) in Envelope 2 shall be checked for technical evaluation. All proposals passing Stage I of the evaluation will be considered responsive enough to be considered for the next stage.
- 4.10.3 In Stage II of evaluation, the Financial Bids in Envelope 3 of only those Bidders who have passed Stage I shall be opened by the Authority in presence of the nominees of the Bidders, who choose to attend the same. The Bidder quoting the minimum Quarterly Fee in ("L1") shall be the Successful Bidder for the Project. Bidders shall be ranked L1, L2, and L3 etc. In decreasing increasing order of the Quarterly Fees (in Rupees) quoted by them in their Financial Proposal.
- 4.10.4 Even if only a single bid is received (and technically qualified) or a single bid amongst several is technically qualified, the Authority retains the right to open his Financial Bid and award the Project.
- 4.10.5 The Authority would have the right to review the Proposals and seek clarifications where necessary. The response from the Bidder(s) shall only be in writing but no change in the substance of the Proposal would be permitted. It is

- clarified that Bidders are free to make suggestions but are not allowed to submit any conditional bid as specified earlier.
- 4.10.6 Financial Proposals of Bidders who do not qualify the Stage-I of evaluation will not be opened and will be returned unopened.
- 4.10.7 The Proposal (Financial and Technical) should be unconditional and any conditionality attached with the proposal may result in the rejection of the Proposal.

4.11 Confidentiality

4.11.1 Information relating to the examination, clarification, evaluation and recommendation for the short-listed Bidders shall not be disclosed to any person not officially concerned with the process. The Authority will treat all information submitted as part of all proposals in confidence and will insist that all who have access to such material treat it in confidence. The Authority will not divulge any such information unless it is ordered to do so by any Government authority that has the power under law to require its disclosure or due to statutory compliances.

4.12 Acknowledgement of the Proposal

- 4.12.1 The Successful Bidder shall be issued Notice of Award ("NoA") in duplicate. The Successful Bidder shall within ten (10) days of the receipt of the NOA, sign and return the duplicate copy of NOA in acknowledgement thereof. In the event duplicate copy of the NOA duly signed by Successful Bidder is not received within stipulated time, the Authority may, unless it consents to extension of time for submission thereof, appropriate the Bid Security of such Bidder as damages on account of failure of the Successful Bidder to acknowledge the NOA.
- 4.12.2 After acknowledgement of the NOA as aforesaid by Successful Bidder, Concessionaire shall execute the Concession Agreement in the format specified by the Authority within thirty (30) days thereof. The Successful Bidder shall not be entitled to seek any deviation, modification or amendment in the Concession Agreement.

4.13 Execution of Concession Agreement

4.13.1 The Successful Bidder is required to sign the Concession Agreement within 30 (thirty) days of conveying his acceptance of the NoA to the Authority in writing. Prior to signing of the Concession Agreement, the Successful Bidder must satisfy

the conditions required to be satisfied by it. The Authority shall not execute the Concession Agreement until these conditions have been satisfied:

- The Successful Bidder has submitted the requisite Construction Performance Security to the Authority.
- ii. The Successful Bidder has deposited Project Development fees to the Authority
- iii. The Successful Bidder, if it is a subsidiary of a holding / parent company or part of an SPC, it shall be required to furnish a letter of guarantee from its holding / parent Company(including a board resolution of such holding / parent company) pledging such holding / parent company's irrevocable financial strength and technical support to its subsidiary(in case of SPC in proportion to its subsidiary's holding in the SPC), at all times during the concurrency of the Concession Agreement, and even after its termination for any of the acts and liabilities of its subsidiary prior to termination.
- 4.13.2 Failure to meet the above conditions (i) to (iii) will result in a breach and the Authority shall be entitled to cancel the award without being liable, in any manner whatsoever, to the Bidder and to appropriate the proposal security and any other amount deposited till that time as 'Damages'.
- 4.13.3 The cost of stamp duty for execution of Concession Agreement, registration charges and any other related legal documentation charges and other incidental charges will be borne by the Successful Bidder.
- 4.13.4 In case of failure to sign the Concession Agreement within the stipulated time, the Authority shall retain the right to cancel the Award and forfeit the Bidder's proposal security and any other amount deposited till that time without being liable in any manner whatsoever to the Bidder.

4.14 Bids of other Bidders

- 4.14.1 The Authority shall return the proposal security received from the Bidders who have not qualified in Stage I of the evaluation, within one hundred eighty (180) days of opening of the technical bid. The proposal security shall be returned without payment of any interest.
- 4.14.2 Proposal Security received from all the short listed Bidders after Stage II of evaluation (except L1, L2 and L3) will be returned within sixty (60) days from the date of opening of financial bid, and returned thereafter, without payment of any interest.

5. PROPOSAL DATA SHEET

Sr.No	// Information	Dataille	
31.110	Key Information	Details	
1.	Name of the Project	Development of E-Toilets with Bio-Digesters on D.B.O.T. at 10 locations in the ABD Area of Solapur (Maharashtra)	
2.	Location of the Project	Solapur, Maharashtra	
3.	Name and Address of the Authority	Solapur City Development Corporation Limited Indrabhuvan, Ambedkar Chowk Solapur-413001.	
4.	Name of the Contact Person	Mr. Sanjay Teli, Chief Executive Officer (CEO), SCDCL Email: Solapurcitydcl@gmail.com	
5.	Institutional Structure for Implementation	In case of Consortium or foreign entity, mandatorily form a Special Purpose Company (SPC) under Companies Act, 2013. Single bidder may choose to form an SPC	
6.	Project Model (Concession Format)	DBOT – Design, Build, Operate, Transfer	
7.	Earnest Money Deposit /Proposal Security	Rs. 1,00,000/- (Rupees One Lakh only) – in the form of Bank Guarantee from Nationalized or Scheduled Bank only as per format provided in FORMAT F	
8.	Tender Fee	Rs 10,000/ in the form of Demand Draft from	
9.	Bidding Parameter The Bidder quoting the least concession period shall the Successful Bidder.		
10.	Performance Security	10% of project cost. 50% of performance security will be returned after successful construction period.	
11.	Notice of Award	To be communicated later	
12.	Signing of Concession Agreement	To be communicated later	
13.	Concession Period	Evaluation of the project will be done on concession period.	
14.	Project Execution Period / Installation Period	One month from Signing of Concession Agreement	
15.	Mandatory Components		
16.	Proposal Due Date	03/01/2017	
17.	Last Date of Receiving Pre-Bid Queries	27/12/2016	
18.	Pre-Bid Conference	28/12/2016	
19.	Proposal Opening Date	04/01/2017	

6. PRESCRIBED FORMATS

FORMAT A. LETTER OF APPLICATION & INTEREST

(To be submitted and signed by the Bidder's Authorized Signatory)

The Chief Executive Officer,
Solapur City Development Corporation Limited,
Solapur 413004,
Maharashtra

Sub: RFP for Development of E-Toilets with Bio-Digesters at 10 places in Solapur: Proposal for the Project

SII,														
1.	Being	duly	author	ized	to	repre	sent	and	act	for	and	on	behalf	01
		(Here	inafter	refer	red	to as	"the	Bidde	r"), a	nd ha	aving	studie	d and	fully
	underst	ood all	I the inf	ormat	ion p	orovide	d in t	he bid	docur	nent,	the u	ndersi	gned he	ereby
	apply a	s a Bid	der for	"Deve	elopn	nent o	f E-To	ilets w	ith Bi	o-Dige	esters	at 10	locatio	ns ir
	Solapur	" in		in a	ccor	dance	with tl	ne tern	ns & co	onditio	ons of	the RF	P Docu	ment
	issued h	ov SCDO	~ I											

- 2. Our Technical & Financial Bids are as per the requisite formats along with the supporting documents, duly filled and signed on each page are enclosed in separate sealed envelopes as specified.
- 3. The Proposal Security is enclosed in the Envelope 1 marked "Proposal Security Deposit".
- 4. SCDCL and its authorized representatives are hereby authorized to conduct any inquiries / investigation to verify the statements, documents and information submitted in connection with the application and to seek clarification from our banker regarding any financial and technical aspects. This letter of application will also serve as authorization to any individual or authorized representative of any institution referred to the supporting information, to provide such information deemed necessary and requested by your selves to verify statements and information provided in the application or with regard to the resources, experience and competence of the applicant.
- 5. SCDCL and its authorized representatives may contact the following persons for any further information:

Name of the person(s)	
Address:	
Phone:	
Fax:	

6. This application is made with full understanding that: (a) SCDCL reserves the right to reject or accept any bid, cancel the bidding process, and / or reject all bids. (b) SCDCL

- shall not be liable for any of the above actions and shall be under no obligation to inform the applicant of the same.
- We, the undersigned declare the statements made and the information provided in the duly completed application forms enclosed, as complete, true and correct in every detail.
- 8. We hereby confirm that we have read, understood and accepted all the detailed terms and conditions of this RFP and Project related information as required for the Proposal. We have also visited the Site of the Project in Solapur for the assessment and have made our own due diligence and assessment regarding the Project.
- 9. We agree to keep our proposal valid for one hundred eighty (180) days from the date of submission of Proposal thereof, and not to make any modifications in the terms and conditions, not acceptable to the SCDCL. Should this Proposal be accepted, We hereby agree to abide by and fulfill all the terms, conditions and provisions of the aforesaid documents.
- 10. This application is made with the full understanding that the validity of Proposal submitted by us will be subject to verification of all information, terms and conditions submitted at the time of bidding and its final acceptance by SCDCL. We agree that, without prejudice to any other right or remedy, SCDCL shall be at liberty to forfeit the said Proposal Security absolutely.

Authorized signatory

Date:

Name and seal of Bidder

Place: Encl:

- 1. The Proposal Security of Rs. (Rupees) in the form of Demand Draft/Bank Guarantee bearing No. drawn upon (bank dated).
- 2. Power of Attorney for signing of application /board resolution authorizing the signatory (as per the Suggested Format at Annexure E)
- 3. Joint Bidding Agreement in case of a Consortium
- 4. Relevant Submissions as per the given Formats.

FORMAT B. GENERAL INFORMATION ON THE BIDDER

1. General

- a. Name
- b. Country of incorporation:
- c. Address of the corporate headquarters and its branch office(s), if any, in India:
- 2. Details of individual(s) who will serve as the point of contact / communication for SCDCL within the Company:
 - a. Name:
 - b. Designation:
 - c. Company:
 - d. Address:
 - e. Telephone Number: (f) Fax Number:
 - f. E-Mail Address:

3. In case of Consortium:

- a. The information above (1 & 2) should be provided for all the members of the consortium.
- b. Information regarding role of each member should be provided:

Sl. No.	Name of Member	Proportion of Equity to be held in the	Role*

^{*} Specify whether Lead Member / Ordinary Member

Signed

(Name of the Authorised Signatory)

For and on behalf of (Name of the Bidder) Designation

Place: Date

To be enclosed:

- 1. Documents certifying Bidder's legal status
- 2. Certificate of incorporation / registration
- 3. In case of a Consortium, Joint Bidding Agreement & Power of Attorney signed by each Consortium partner, clearly indicating the lead partner
- 4. Latest brochures/ organization profiles etc.

Digesters in Solapur, Maharashtra.

FORMAT C. FORMAT FOR FINANCIAL PROPOSAL

(To be submitted and signed by the Bidder's Authorized Signatory)

The Chief Executive Officer, SCDCL,
Solapur
Sub: Financial Proposal for Development of Installation of E-Toilets with Bio-

Dear Sir/Madam,

Having gone through this RFP document and having fully understood the Scope of Work for the Project as set out by Authority in the RFP, we are pleased to inform that we would charge the following fee on quarterly basis for executing the complete scope as in the RFP.

	Rs. [insert amount in figures and in words]
Quarterly Fee for the first year of the commercial operations from the COD	Rs(Rupees)
Note: Service tax or any equivalent tax, rates.	, if applicable, shall be payable extra at the prevailing

We will design, build, operate and transfer the project within above mentioned Concession Period in accordance with the Concession Agreement executed with Solapur City Development Corporation Limited as per the format specified by it.

We are making this proposal after taking into consideration all the terms and conditions stated in the RFP document, and after careful assessment of the site, all risks and contingencies and all other conditions that may affect the financial proposal.

We agree to keep our offer valid for one hundred and eighty (180) days from the due date of submission of this Proposal.

Authorized signatory		Date: Name and seal
of Bidder	Place:	

FORMAT D. AFFIDAVIT

-	e given separately by each consortium member in case of a consortium or rise by the Bidder on a Stamp Paper of Rs. 10).
the	
1.	That I am the authorized signatory of(insert name of company /consortium member) (hereinafter referred to as "Bidder/Consortium Member") and I am duly authorized by the Board of Directors of the Bidder/Consortium Member to swear and depose this Affidavit on behalf of the Bidder/consortium member.
2.	That I have submitted information with respect to our eligibility for Solapur smart city limited(SCDCL) Development of E-Toilets with Bio-Digesters at 10 locations in the ABD Area of Solapur Smart City (hereinafter referred to as "Project") Request For Proposal ('RFP') Document and I further state that all the said information submitted by us is accurate, true and correct and is based on our records available with us.
3.	That I hereby affirm to furnish any information, which may be requested by SCDCL to verify our credentials/information provided by us under this tender and as may be deemed necessary by SCDCL.
4.	That if any point of time including the Concession Period, in case SCDCL requests any further/additional information regarding our financial and/or technical capabilities, or any other relevant information, I shall promptly and immediately make available such information accurately and correctly to the satisfaction of SCDCL.
5.	That I fully acknowledge and understand that furnishing of any false or misleading
6.	information by us in our RFP shall entitle us to be disqualified from the tendering process for the said project. The costs and risks for such disqualification shall be entirely borne by us.
7.	I state that all the terms and conditions of the Request for Proposal (RFP) Document has been duly complied with.
DEPON	IENT VERIFICATION:-
affidav	above named deponent, do verify that the contents of paragraphs 1 to 6 of this it are true and correct to my knowledge. No part of it is false and nothing all has been concealed.
erified 016.	at day of,

DEPONENT

FORMAT E. FORMAT FOR POWER OF ATTORNEY FOR SIGNING OF APPLICATION

(On a Stamp Paper of appropriate value) Dated
Know all men by these presents, We, (name of the firm and address of the
registered office) do hereby irrevocably constitute, nominate, appoint and authorise Mr. Ms (Name), son/daughter/wife of
and presently residing at, who is present employed with us/ the Lead Member of our Consortium and holding the position, as our true and lawful attorney (hereinafter referred to as the "Attorney")
to do in our name and on our behalf, all such acts, deeds and things as are necessary required in connection with or incidental to submission of our bid in response to the RI issued by the SOLAPUR CITY DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION LIMITED (the "Authority") for the selection of a concessionaire for Planning, Designing, Engineering, Finance, Construction Development, Operation and Maintenance of E-Toilets with Bio-Digesters ("Project"); including but not limited to signing and submission of all applications, bids are other documents and writings, participate in bidders' and other conferences and providing information / responses to the Authority, representing us in all matters before the Authority signing and execution of all contracts including the Concession Agreement and undertaking consequent to acceptance of our bid, and generally dealing with the Authority in all matter in connection with or relating to or arising out of our bid for the said Project and/or upon award thereof to us and/or till the entering into of the Concession Agreement with the Authority. AND we hereby agree to ratify and confirm and do hereby ratify and confirm acts, deeds and things done or caused to be done by our said Attorney pursuant to and exercise of the powers conferred by this Power of Attorney and that all acts, deeds and thing done by our said Attorney in exercise of the powers hereby conferred shall and shall alwabe deemed to have been done by us. IN WITNESS WHEREOF WE,
For
(Signature, name, designation and address)
Witnesses: 1.
2.
Accepted Notarised
(Signature, name, designation and address of the Attorney)

FORMAT F. FORMAT FOR PROPOSAL SECURITY (BANK GUARANTEE) PROPOSAL SECURITY FORMAT

UNCONDITIONAL AND IRREVOCABLE BANK GUARANTEE

Ban	k G	แล	ran	itee	No) .:

Dated:

Issuer of the Bank Guarantee: Name of the Bank

(hereinafter referred to as the "Bank") **Beneficiary of Bank Guarantee**: Solapur City Development Corporation Limited, On behalf of Govt. of Maharashtra

Nature of Bank Guarantee: Unconditional and irrevocable Bank Guarantee.

Context of Bank Guarantee:

Whereas the Solapur City Development Corporation Limited (the "Authority") has invited
bids by its Request for Proposal dated(the "RFP") for the selection of a
concessionaire for Planning, Designing, Engineering, Finance, Construction, Development,
Operation and Maintenance of E-Toilets with bio-digesters ("Project") at 10 location in
Solapur, State of Maharashtra. Whereas in accordance with the terms of the RFP,
, is submitting a bid for the Project in, and is required to
submit a security of Rs (Rupees Lakhs Only) with respect to the same.

Operative part of the Bank Guarantee:

- 1. At the request of the (Insert the name of the Bidder), we _____ (name and address of the bank), hereinafter referred to as the "Bank"), do hereby unconditionally and irrevocably affirm and undertake that we are the Guarantor and are responsible to the SCDCL i.e. the beneficiary on behalf of the Bidder, up to a total sum of Rs. ------ (Rupees ------ Lakhs Only), such sum being payable by us to the ------ immediately upon receipt of first written demand from SCDCL.
- 3. We further agree and affirm that no change or addition to or other modification to the terms of the Agreement, shall in any way release us from any liability under this unconditional and irrevocable Guarantee and we hereby waive notice of any such change, addition or modification. We further agree that the SCDCL shall be the sole and the exclusive judge to determine that whether or not any sum or sums are due and payable to him by Concessionaire, which are recoverable by the SCDCL by invocation of this Guarantee.

Solapur City Development Corporation Limited

- 4. This Guarantee will not be discharged due to the change in constitution of the Bank or the Bidder. We undertake not to withdraw or revoke this Guarantee during its currency/ validity period, except with the previous written consent of the SCDCL.
- 5. We unconditionally and irrevocably undertake to pay to the SCDCL, any amount so demanded not exceeding Rs. ------ (Rupees ------ Lakhs Only), notwithstanding any dispute or disputes raised by Bidder or anyone else in any suit or proceedings before any dispute review expert, arbitrator, court, tribunal or other authority, our liability under this Guarantee being absolute, unconditional and unequivocal. The payment so made by us under this Guarantee to the SCDCL, shall be a valid discharge of our liability for payment under this Guarantee and the Bidder shall have no claim against us for making such payment.
- 6. 6. This unconditional and irrevocable Guarantee shall remain in full force and effect and shall remain valid until ______(180 days from the proposal due date)

Notwithstanding any contained herein:

- 1. Our liability under this Bank Guarantee shall not exceed Rs. ------ (Rupees ------ Lakhs Only)
- This unconditional and irrevocable Bank Guarantee shall be valid for a period of 180 days from _____ (Proposal Due Date).

FORMAT G. POWER OF ATTORNEY BY EACH MEMBER OF THE CONSORTIUM IN FAVOUR OF LEAD MEMBER

Dated	
Dateu	

(Executants)

POWER OF ATTORNEY

TO WHOMSOEVER IT MAY CONCERN

(On a Stamp Paper of appropriate value)

NOW THEREFORE KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS
We,; and; and
having our registered office at, and, having our
registered office at, (hereinafter collectively referred to as the "Principals")
do hereby irrevocably designate, nominate, constitute, appoint and authorize,
having its registered office at, being one of the Members of the Consortium,
as the Lead Member and true and lawful attorney of the Consortium (hereinafter referred to
as the "Attorney") and hereby irrevocably authorize the Attorney (with power to sub-
delegate) to conduct all business for and on behalf of the Consortium and any one of us during
the bidding process and, in the event the Consortium is awarded the Contract, during
the execution of the Project, and in this regard, to do on our behalf and on behalf of the
Consortium, all or any of such acts, deeds or things as are necessary or required or
incidental to the submission of its bid for the Project, including but not limited to signing
and submission of all applications, bids and other documents and writings, accept the Notice
of Award, participate in bidders' and other conferences, respond to queries, submit
information/ documents, sign and execute contracts and undertakings consequent to
acceptance of the bid of the Consortium and generally to represent the Consortium in all its
dealings with the Authority, and/ or any other Government Agency or any person, in all
matters in connection with or relating to or arising out of the Consortium's bid for the Project
in and/ or upon award thereof till the Concession Agreement is entered into
with the Authority.
AND hereby agree to ratify and confirm and do hereby ratify and confirm all acts, deeds
and things done or caused to be done by our said Attorney pursuant to and in exercise of the
powers conferred by this Power of Attorney and that all acts, deeds and things done by our
said Attorney in exercise of the powers hereby conferred shall and shall always be deemed
to have been done by us/ Consortium
IN WITNESS WHEREOF WE THE PRINCIPALS ABOVE NAMED HAVE EXECUTED THIS POWER OF ATTORNEY ON THIS
FOWER OF ATTORNET ON THIS DAT OF 20
For (Signature, Name & Title) For (Signature, Name & Title)

(To be executed by all the Members of the Consortium)

Accepted

Notarized

(Signature, name, designation and address of the Attorney) Witnesses:

1.

2. Notes:

- a. Each Power of Attorney submitted has to be notarized. The mode of execution of the Power of Attorney should be in accordance with the procedure, if any, laid down by the applicable law and the charter documents of the executant(s) and when it is so required, the same should be under common seal affixed in accordance with the required procedure.
- b. Wherever required, the Bidder should submit for verification the extract of the charter documents and documents such as a board or shareholders resolution/ power of attorney in favor of the person executing this Power of Attorney for the delegation of power hereunder on behalf of the Bidder.

FORMAT H. FORMAT FOR ESTABLISHING THE TECHNICAL EXPERIENCE OF THE BIDDER

S. No	Description	Detail
1	Name of the Bidder :	
2	Name of the Project	
3	Location of the Project	
4	Nature of the Project	
5	Estimated Cost of the Project (in INR Crores)	
6	Commercial Operation Date of the Project	

The above mentioned information should be supported by relevant documents like possession certificate / commercial operation commencement certificate from the relevant government authorities.

FORMAT I. FORMAT FOR ESTABLISHING THE FINANCIAL CAPACITY OF THE BIDDER.

Name of Bidder	Net Worth (in Rs. Crores)		
	Y1	Y2	Y3
Name of Bidding Company			
TOTAL			

The above mentioned information should be supported by relevant documents the Certificate from the Statutory Auditor / Chartered Accountant. Provide details for last three completed financial years preceding to the Proposal Due Date.

FORMAT J. JOINT BIDDING AGREEMENT FOR CONSORTIUM

[Stamp Paper]	
THIS JOINT BIDDING AGREEMENT is entered into on this the day of	
1. { Limited, a company incorporated under the Companies Act, 1956/2013} and having its registered office at (hereinafter referred to as the "First Part" whi expression shall, unless repugnant to the context include its successors and permitted assigns)	ch
AND	
2. { Limited, a company incorporated under the Companies Act, 1956/2013} at	nd

AND

assigns)

3. {.......... Limited, a company incorporated under the Companies Act, 1956/2013} and having its registered office at (hereinafter referred to as the "Second Part" which expression shall, unless repugnant to the context include its successors and permitted assigns)

having its registered office at (hereinafter referred to as the "Second Part" which expression shall, unless repugnant to the context include its successors and permitted

The above mentioned parties of the FIRST, and SECOND, and THIRD PART are collectively referred to as the "Parties" and each is individually referred to as a "Party"

WHEREAS,

- (A) SOLAPUR CITY DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION LIMITED Authority ("SCDCL"/ the "Authority") has invited bids (the "Bids") by its Request for Proposal dated(the "RFP") for selection of a concessionaire for Planning, Designing, Engineering, Finance, Construction, Development, Operation and Maintenance of E-Toilets with Bio- digesters ("Project") in Solapur, Maharashtra as identified in the RFP.
- (B) The Parties are interested in jointly bidding for the Project for installation of E- Toilets with bio-digesters at 10 locations in the ABD Area as members of a Consortium and in accordance with the terms and conditions of the RFP document and other bid documents in respect of the Project, and
- (C) It is a necessary condition under the RFP document that the members of the Consortium shall enter into a Joint Bidding Agreement and furnish a copy thereof with the Bid.

NOW IT IS HEREBY AGREED as follows:

1. Definitions and Interpretations

In this Agreement, the capitalized terms shall, unless the context otherwise requires, have the meaning ascribed thereto under the RFP.

2. Consortium

2.1 The Parties do hereby irrevocably constitute a purposes of jointly participating in the bidding process for the Project for installation of E-Toilets with bio-digesters at 10 locations.

2.2 The Parties hereby undertake to participate in the bidding process only through this Consortium and not individually and/ or through any other consortium constituted for the Project of installation of E-Toilets with bio-digesters at 10 locations, either directly or indirectly or through any of their Associates. For the purpose of this clause, "**Associates**" means in relation to the Bidder/Consortium member, a person who either: (a) controls, is controlled by, or is under the common control with such Bidder/Consortium member or (b) in the event the Bidder is a company incorporated pursuant to a joint venture agreement, a joint venture partner that executed the joint venture agreement or has later joined the joint venture.

3. Covenants

The Parties hereby undertake that in the event the Consortium is declared the Successful Bidder and awarded the Project, it shall: (a) incorporate a Special Purpose Company (SPC) under the Indian Companies Act, 2013 for the implementation of the Project in accordance with the terms of the RFP; and (b) execute the Concession Agreement which is required to perform all its obligations in terms of the RFP. The Parties hereby undertake that in the event that the Consortium is declared the Successful Bidder and is awarded the Project, they shall ensure that due implementation of the Project by the SPC is done as per the Concession Agreement.

4. Role of the Parties

The Parties hereby undertake to perform the roles and responsibilities as described below:-

- (a) Party of the First Part shall be the Lead member of the Consortium and shall have the power of attorney from all Parties for conducting all business for and on behalf of the Consortium during the bidding process and until the due execution of the Concession Agreement.
- (b) Party of the Second Part shall be {the Technical Member of the Consortium};
- (c) Party of the Third Part shall be { }.

5. Joint and Several Liabilities

The Parties do hereby undertake to be jointly and severally responsible for all obligations and liabilities relating to the Project and in accordance with the terms of the RFP, and the Concession Agreement in the format specified by the Authority.

6. Lock- in Requirements

The Parties undertake that each member of the Consortium shall at all times from the date of execution of the Concession Agreement continue to hold equity share capital in the SPC as follows, and no change in the shareholding of the SPC would occur without the prior written approval of the Authority:

- (a) equity share of the First Part in the SPC: [...] % and
- (b) equity share of the Second Part in the SPC: [...]% and
- (c) equity share of the Third Part in the SPC: [...]%.

7. Representation of the Parties

Each Party represents to the other Parties as of the date of this Agreement that:

- (a) Such Party is duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of its incorporation and has all requisite power and authority to enter into this Agreement;
- (b) The execution, delivery and performance by such Party of this Agreement has been authorized by all necessary and appropriate corporate or governmental action and a copy of the extract of the charter documents and board resolution/ power of attorney in favour of the person executing this Agreement for the delegation of power and Authority to execute this Agreement on behalf of the Consortium Member is annexed to this Agreement, and will not, to the best of its knowledge:
- i. require any consent or approval not already obtained;
- ii. Violate any applicable law presently in effect and having applicability to it;
- iii. Violate the memorandum and articles of association, by-laws or other applicable organizational documents thereof;
- iv. violate any clearance, permit, concession, grant, license or other governmental authorization, approval, judgment, order or decree or any mortgage agreement, indenture or any other instrument to which such Party is a party or by which such Party or any of its properties or assets are bound or that is otherwise applicable to such Party; or
- v. create or impose any liens, mortgages, pledges, claims, security interests, charges or encumbrances or obligations to create a lien, charge, pledge, security interest, encumbrances or mortgage in or on the property of such Party, except for encumbrances that would not, individually or in the aggregate, have a material adverse effect on the financial condition or prospects or business of such Party so as to prevent such Party from fulfilling its obligations under this Agreement;
- (c) this Agreement is the legal and binding obligation of such Party, enforceable in accordance with its terms against it; and
- (d) there is no litigation pending or, to the best of such Party's knowledge, threatened to which it or any of its Affiliates is a party that presently affects or which would have a material adverse effect on the financial condition or prospects or business of such Party in the fulfillment of its obligations under this Agreement.

8. Termination

This Agreement shall be effective from the date hereof and shall continue in full force and effect until the term of Concession Agreement, in case the Project is awarded to the Consortium. However, in case the Consortium is either not prequalified for the Project or does not get selected for award of the Project, the Agreement will stand terminated in case the Bidder is not pre-qualified or upon return of the Proposal Security by the Authority to the Bidder, as the case may be.

9. Miscellaneous

- 9.1 This Joint Bidding Agreement shall be governed by laws of India.
- 9.2 The Parties acknowledge and accept that this Agreement shall not be amended by the Parties without the prior written consent of the Authority.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF THE PARTIES ABOVE NAMED HAVE EXECUTED AND DELIVERED THIS AGREEMENT AS OF THE DATE FIRST ABOVE WRITTEN. SIGNED, SEALED AND DELIVERED

For and on behalf of LEAD MEMBER by: (Signature)

(Name) (Designation) (Address)

SIGNED, SEALED AND DELIVEREDFor and on behalf of SECOND PART (Signature)

(Name) (Designatio n) (Address)

SIGNED, SEALED AND DELIVERED For and on behalf of

THIRD PART (Signature) (Name) (Designation) (Address)

In the presence of:

1.

2.

Notes:

- 1. All the Joint Bidding Agreements have to be notarized. The mode of the execution of the Joint Bidding Agreement should be in accordance with the procedure, if any, laid down by the applicable law and the charter documents of the executant(s) and when it is so required, the same should be under common seal affixed in accordance with the required procedure.
- 2. Each Joint Bidding Agreement should attach a copy of the extract of the charter documents and documents such as resolution / power of attorney in favor of the person executing this Agreement for the delegation of power and Authority to execute this Agreement on behalf of the Consortium Member.

FORMAT K. GOVERNMENT RESOLUTION

MOH PHE CE
MCI Jale 9 JUL 2007
INT COMMISSIONER
LOT COMMISSIONER

विषय — शौचालये बांधणे, शौचालयांची स्वच्छता देखभाल व दुरूस्ती, गटार बांधकाम व दुरूस्ती तसेच स्वच्छता साहित्य (सॉनेटरी) खरेदी इत्यादी कामांचे कंत्राट स्थानिक मुक्त मैलावाहक (बाल्मीकी/मेहतर सफाई कर्मचारी) कुटुंबियांच्या सहकारी संस्था/सॅनिटरी मार्ट केंन्द्रास प्रथम प्राधान्याने कामे देणेची अंमलबजावणी बाबत.

महाराष्ट्र शासन

े महाराष्ट्र राज्य सफाई कर्मचारी आयोग, विशासिकय इमारत, बि.विंग, ३रा मजला, चेंबुर (पुर्व) मुंबई शासन मरासकआ/पत्र क.२१५/०७.०८ दिनांक १० जुलै २००७

संदर्भः—। प्रापिणंता कार्यात्वय १ १ १ १० १० १० ११

संदर्भ:—१) मह राष्ट्र शासन राजपत्र— मेहतरांची नियुक्ती व टोपलयांचे संडास बांधणे (प्रतिवंध) अधिनियम, १९९३ कलम ४६, पोटकलम ३(ब) अनुच्छेद ६ मधील (१) चा भाग ३ अन्वये.

) महानष्ट्र शासन राजपत्र मगसकअ— डिसेंबर १९९७/(भाग—४) प्र.३ मधील (ब) (ड) (२) अन्वये.

३) महानाष्ट्र शासन— नगरविकाल विभाग, शासन परिपत्रक कृ.संकीर्ण १०२००३/ प्र.क.१६९/०३/नवि—२७,•ेनत्रालय, मुंबई—३२ दि.१७ सप्टेंबर २००३

४) महानाष्ट्र शासन-पाणी व स्वच्छता विभाग,शासन निर्णय क एएमएस—२००१/ प्र.क.६५/शा.नि.क.पा.पु. २२ दि.१२ सप्टें २००१

प्रस्तावनाः— ग्रामिण व नागरी भागात अस्तित्वान असलेल्या टोपलयांच्या शौचालयाचे जलद्यौत शाँचालयां करणे. जलद्यौत (सुलभ) शौचालयांचे परिरक्षण (स्वच्छता, देखभाल, दुरूस्ती) मैला बाहरण्याच्या कामातील मेहतरांची मुक्तता करणे. मुक्त करयांत आलेल्या मेहतरांचे (सफाई कर्मच—यांचे) इतर लाभदायी व्यवसायांत पुनर्वसन करणे यस डी महाराष्ट्र शासनाने मंदर्भ क्र.१ नुसार अधिनियम व तरतूदी लागु केल्या आहे.

सफाई कर्नचारी हा प्रामुख्याने म्बच्छनेच्या कामाशी परंपरागत निगडीत आहे. यांच्या पुर्वजा पासून यांनी आपल्या शहर गावाणी घाण/मैला साफ सफाई केली व करीत आहे. मात्र शासना कडील व्य समाझच्या पुनर्वसन धोरणानुसार परंपरागत डोक्यावरून मैला व्यहण्याची पध्यत बंद करून जलहाौत (सुलभ) शौचालयांचे धोरण आहे. बाल्मीक्-मेहतर व तत्सम कुटुंबिवानांल व्यक्ती यामुळे बेरोजगार झालेला आहे. यांना रोजगाराच्या संघी उपलब्ध करून देने शासनाची मृख्य जवाबदारी आहे. त्या करिता

निर्देश:— शासन् आदेश संदर्भ क.३अन्वये शौचालये बांधणे/शौचालयांची स्वच्छता, देखभाल व दुरूस्ती/गटार बांधकाम व दुरूस्ती तसेच शौचालय बांधकामाला लागणारे स्वच्छता विषयक सर्व साहित्य खरेदी आदि कामाचे कंत्राट बाल्मीकी/मेहतर समाजातील सफाई कर्मचारी कुटुंबियांच्या शासन नोंदणीकृत सहकारी संस्था, सॉनेटरी मार्ट यांना प्रथम प्राधान्याने देण्यांत यावे. यांत कसूर झाल्यास संबंधित अधिकारी शासिकय कारवाईस पात्र राहर्ति

्र (सुरेश दलोड) उपाध्यक्ष,

महाराष्ट्र राज्य सफाई कर्मचारी आयोग, महाराष्ट्र शासन

```
मा.मुख्यमंत्री यांचे खाजगी सचिव, मंत्रालय मुंबई—३२
 मा.प्रधान सचिव, मुख्यमंत्री कार्यालय, मंत्रालय, मुंबई-३२
 मा.मुख्य सचिव, महाराष्ट्र शासन, मंत्रालय, मुंबई—३२.
 मा.प्रधान सचिव, वित्त विभाग, मंत्रालय, मुंबई— ४०० ०३२.
 मा प्रधान सचिव, पाणीपुरवठा व स्वच्छता विभाग, मंत्रालय, मुंबई— ४०० ०३२
 मा.प्रधान सचिव, नगर विकास विभाग, मंत्रालय, मुंबई— ४०० ०३२:
 मा प्रधान सचिव, समाज कल्याण, सांस्कृतिक कार्य व किडा विभाग, नंत्रालय, मुंबई-३२
 मा.राज्यपालांचे, सचिव, राजभवन, मंत्रालय, मुंबई— ४०० ०३२.
 मा.महालेखापाल-१, मुंबई ( लेखा व अनुज्ञेयना/लेखा परिक्षा) मुंबई
 मा.प्रधान साचिव, गृहविभाग (परिवहन), मंत्रालय, पुंबई--३२
मा.प्रधान सचिव, शालेय शिक्षण विभाग, मंत्रालय, मुंबई— ४०० ०३२.
मा.प्रधान सचिव, उच्च व तंत्र शिक्षण विभाग, मंत्रालय, मुंबई— ४०० ०३२.
मा.प्रधान सचिव, उद्योग, उर्जा व कामगार विभाग (कामगार) मंत्रालय, नुंबई—३२
मा.प्रधान् सचिव, वैद्यक्तिय शिक्षण व औषधी द्रव्ये विभाग, मंत्रालय, नंबई,
मा.महासँचालक, आरोग्य सेवा, मुंबई-१
मा उपाध्यक्ष व व्यवस्थापकीय संचालक, महाराष्ट्र राज्य परिवहन महानंडळ, मुंबई
मा.आयुक्त तथा संचालक, नगरपरिषद प्रशासन संचालनालय, महाराष्ट्र राज्य, मुंबई.
मा.व्यवस्थापकीय संचालक, सिडको भवन, न्वीमुंबई
मा व्यवस्थापकीय संचालक, महात्मा फुले मानासवर्ग विकास महामंडत्ट, मुंबई
मा.व्यवस्थापकीय संचालक, महाराष्ट्र राज्य विद्युत वितरण/पारेषण कंप्नी, मुंबई
मा महानगर आयुक्त, एम एम आर डी.ए. मह राष्ट्र राज्य, बांद्रा, मुंबई
मा.व्यवस्थापकीय संचालक, म्हाडा, महाराष्ट्र राज्य, बांद्रा मुंबई.
मा.महाव्यवस्थापक, बेस्ट भवन, महाराष्ट्र राज्य, कुलावा पुंवर्ड.
मा.सदस्य सचिव, महाराष्ट्र जीवन प्राधिकरण. मुबई-२१
मा.व्यवस्थापकीय संचालक, हुडको महाराष्ट्र गज्य, बांद्रा मुंबई.
सर्व मा.विभागीय आयुक्त,
सर्व मा.आयुक्त, महानगरपालिका
सर्व मा.जिल्हाधिकारी
सर्व मा.मुख्य कार्यकारी अधिकारी, जिल्हा परिपद
सर्व मा संचालक, जिल्हा रोजगार व स्वयंरोज्ञार मार्गदर्शन केंन्द्र जिल्हा-
सर्व मा अधिवाशी अधिकारी, कॅन्टोंन्मेंट बोर्ड
सर्व मा मुख्याधिकारी/नगरपालिका/नगरपरिषट.
सर्व मा.सभापती/गटविकास अधिकारी, पंचायत समिनी.
```

FORMAT L. MAP SHOWING ABD AREA IN SOLAPUR SMART CITY Kongi ABD Area Bale **Municipal Limits** © 2016 Google Image © 2016 DigitalGlobe Image © 2016 CNES / Astrium Imagery Date: 5/25/2016 17°38'56.99" N 75°54'33.8

Solapur City Development Corporation Limited



ABD Area – 1040 Acres

Area Boundary

(Gaothan area (Navi Peth, Budhwar Peth, Mangalwar Peth, All, Peths), Navi Ves to Bhaiya Chowk to Railway Station Road till Saat Rasta, Ashwini Indoor Stadium, Garud Bunglow, Rang bhuvan, Vijapur Ves including Siddeshwar Temple premises and Railway Station)